
 

 
 

Standards Committee  AGENDA 
 
 
DATE: 
 

Thursday 16 June 2011 
 

TIME: 
 

7.30 pm 
 

VENUE: 
 

Committee Room 5, 
Harrow Civic Centre 
 

 
 
 MEMBERSHIP      (Quorum 2 Councillors and 1 Independent Person) 
   
  Chairman: 

 
Dr J Kirkland 

 
  Councillors: 

 
Mano Dharmarajah 
Brian Gate 
Victoria Silver 
 

Paul Osborn 
Simon Williams 
 

  
 

  
Independent Persons: Mr James Coyle 

Mr Derek Lawrence 
   

Reserve Members: 
 

1. Mitzi Green 
2. Asad Omar 
3. Nana Asante 
 

1. Chris Mote 
2. Richard Romain 
3. John Nickolay 
 

  
 

 
 

Contact:  Vishal Seegoolam, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
Tel:  020 8424 1883    E-mail:  vishal.seegoolam@harrow.gov.uk 
 



 

Standards Committee - 16 June 2011 

 AGENDA - PART I   
 

1. ATTENDANCE BY RESERVE MEMBERS    
 
 To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members. 

 
Reserve Members may attend meetings:- 
 
(i) to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve; 
(ii) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; and  
(iii) the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that the 

Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve; 
(iv) if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives after 

the commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member can only act 
as a Member from the start of the next item of business on the agenda after 
his/her arrival. 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
 
 To receive declarations of personal or prejudicial interests, arising from business to 

be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Committee; 
(b) all other Members present in any part of the room or chamber. 
 

3. APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIRMAN    
 
 To appoint a Vice-Chairman of the Committee for the Municipal Year 2011/12. The 

Vice-Chairman of the Committee must be an Independent Member. 
 
 

4. MINUTES   (Pages 1 - 6) 
 
 That the minutes of the meeting held on 26 April 2011 be taken as read and signed 

as a correct record. 
 

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS    
 
 To receive questions (if any) from local residents/organisations under the provisions 

of Committee Procedure Rule 17 (Part 4B of the Constitution). 
 

6. PETITIONS    
 
 To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors under 

the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 15 (Part 4B of the Constitution). 
 

7. DEPUTATIONS    
 
 To receive deputations (if any) under the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 

16 (Part 4B) of the Constitution. 
 



 

Standards Committee - 16 June 2011 

8. ESTABLISHMENT OF SUB-COMMITTEES FOR 2011/12   (Pages 7 - 8) 
 
 To agree the establishment of and appointment of Members to the Sub-Committees 

of this Committee for the Municipal Year 2011/12. 
 

9. SOCIAL MEDIA PROTOCOL   (Pages 9 - 18) 
 
 Report of the Director of Legal and Governance Services. 

 
10. STANDARDS DECISIONS   (Pages 19 - 48) 
 
 Report of the Director of Legal and Governance Services. 

 
 AGENDA - PART II - NIL   

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Standards Committee - 26 April 2011 - 24 - 

 
 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE   
MINUTES 

 

26 APRIL 2011 
 
 
Chairman: * Dr J Kirkland 
   
Councillors:   Mano Dharmarajah 

* Brian Gate 
* Nizam Ismail 
 

* Joyce Nickolay 
* Paul Osborn 
 

Independent 
Persons: 
 

* Mr J Coyle 
  
 

* Mr D Lawrence 
 

* Denotes Member present 
  
 

35. Minute’s Silence   
 
The Committee held a minute’s silence in remembrance of Councillor John 
Cowan, who had passed away since the last meeting. 
 

36. Appointment of Member   
 
RESOLVED:  That the Panel note the appointment of Councillor Paul Osborn 
as a Member of the Standards Committee for the remainder of the Municipal 
Year 2010/2011, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 1.5. 
 

37. Attendance by Reserve Members   
 
RESOLVED:  To note the attendance at this meeting of the following duly 
appointed Reserve Member:- 
 
Ordinary Member  
 

Reserve Member 
Councillor Mano Dharmarajah Councillor Nana Asante 
 
 

Agenda Item 4 
Pages 1 to 6 

1



 

- 25 -  Standards Committee - 26 April 2011 

38. Declarations of Interest   
 
RESOLVED:  To note that the following interest was declared: 
 
Agenda Item 8 – Standards Decisions 
Councillor Brian Gate declared a personal interest in that he was the 
Chairman of the Member Development Panel.  He would remain in the room 
whilst the matter was considered and voted upon. 
 

39. Minutes   
 
RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2010 be 
taken as read and signed as a correct record subject to the following 
amendments: 
 
(i) the removal of Mr A Mantri’s name repeated twice in the Independent 

Persons attendance section; 
 
(ii) the removal of M Rizvi’s name from the Councillors attendance section. 
 

40. Public Questions, Petitions and Deputatons   
 
RESOLVED:  To note that no public questions were put, or petitions or 
deputations received at this meeting. 
 
RESOLVED ITEMS   
 

41. Future of Standards Regime at London Borough of the Harrow   
 
An officer introduced a report relating to the future of the standards regime for 
the Council.  The officer reported that: 
 
• it was likely that the current standards regime would be abolished by 

April 2012.  Standards for England had advised the Council that they 
were likely to hear relevant cases up until the autumn of 2011; 

 
• there had been discussions with other authorities on the future of the 

standards regime.  A Pan-London wide Code of Conduct for Members 
had been suggested; 

 
• it was proposed that a Working Group be established to produce 

recommendations about the type and content of a future standards 
regime, which would report back to the Committee with its findings. 

 
During the discussion on this item, Members of the Committee made a 
number of comments which included: 
 
• it was important for the working group to represent the views of their 

respective political groups.  It would also be appropriate to seek the 
views of the other Members who were not members of the 
administrative or opposition parties.  Officer views were also important; 

2



 

Standards Committee - 26 April 2011 - 26 - 

 
• it was important to have representation from the Independent Members 

on the Committee to provide objectivity; 
 
• it was important to get the future system right to ensure benefits for the 

residents of the borough.  The proposed Working Group could seek the 
views of the public as part of its work; 

 
• it would be helpful if Members of the Working Group were Members of 

the Committee. 
 
The Chairman summarised the views of the Committee and expressed that it 
wished for a formal note to be sent to the Group Leaders requesting that the 
issue be discussed at their group meetings and requesting their nominations 
to the Working Group.  They should also be requested for their views on who 
the Working Group should consult with.  It was also suggested that the 
Working Group should comprise of 4 Councillors (2 Labour Members and 
2 Conservative Members) and 1 Independent Member.  Additionally it was not 
envisaged that the Working Group would have to report back to the 
Committee until September 2011. 
 
On an additional query raised by a Member, the Chairman confirmed that 
3 Independent Members on the Committee was the legal minimum required.  
Given the proposed changes to the standards regime, it was not wise to 
recruit further Independent Members unless there was an urgent need to do 
so or once the outcomes from the working group had been established and 
agreed. 
 
RESOLVED:  That  
 
(1) a Member and Officer Working Group be established to consider and 

produce recommendations about the type and content of a future 
standards regime, to report back to the Committee; 

 
(2) the Working Group be comprised of 2 Labour Members, 

2 Conservative Members and 1 Independent Member; 
 
(3) nominations to the working group be requested from the Group 

Leaders. 
 

42. Standards Decisions - Case Studies from other Councils   
 
An officer introduced the report and explained that two case studies were 
being presented to the Committee.  The first related to the official capacity of 
a Member.  In this case a Member had been found to breach the code of 
conduct by failing to treat with respect and bringing the authority into 
disrepute.  The Member concerned had been found to be writing in their 
official capacity as a Member. 
 
In the second case study, a Member had been accused of failing to treat staff 
with respect and bringing the authority into disrepute as a result of a 

3



 

- 27 -  Standards Committee - 26 April 2011 

newspaper interview.  No breach of the code of conduct was found however it 
was found that the code of conduct could limit article 10 of the Human Rights 
Act relating to free speech as long as it was not beyond what was necessary. 
 
The officer then requested the Committee consider whether to develop a 
protocol on social media use for Members would be useful for the Council. 
 
During the discussion on this item, Members made a number of comments 
which included: 
 
• the guidance provided by Standards for England on blogging was 

useful; 
 

• it would be helpful to have case studies to refer to in the consideration 
of complaints made against Members; 

 
• it was important for Members to be aware of when they were acting in 

their official capacity.  This was not always clear and perception by 
others was therefore very important; 

 
• if a protocol was agreed, it should cover various forms of social media 

such as using facebook and twitter. 
 
The Chairman mentioned that a training session on social media was due to 
be conducted.  He suggested that if a protocol was to be developed, it would 
be wise for the protocol to be agreed by the Committee prior to any training 
taking place. 
 
RESOLVED:  That  
 
(1) a Protocol on social media be developed to be presented to the 

Committee at its next meeting; 
 
(2) the report be noted. 
 

43. Bribery Act 2010   
 
The Committee received a report which outlined the main provisions of the 
Bribery Act 2010 and steps taken by the Council to prepare for its 
implementation. 
 
An officer reported that the Bribery Act was due to come into force on 1 July 
2011.  Guidance had been issued by the Government on its implementation.  
There were no radical implications for the Council, just simply an update of 
previous legislation.  A new offence of a failure of a commercial organisation 
to prevent bribery had been introduced, but this had no current implications 
for the Council. 
 
In response to a query raised by a Member, an officer reported that the 
guidance did make a distinction regarding bona fide hospitality and bribery.  
Members of the Committee commented that the guidance was slightly unclear 

4



 

Standards Committee - 26 April 2011 - 28 - 

in that it if there was an intention for financial advantage to influence an 
official, then this could amount to a bribe.  It was important to bring this Act to 
the attention of Members on the Planning Committee and Licensing Panels. 
 
The Chairman requested that officers review the comments made by 
Members, and if any further action was required, a report be presented to the 
next meeting. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 
 
(Note:  The meeting, having commenced at 7.30 pm, closed at 8.36 pm). 
 
 
 
 
 
(Signed) DR J KIRKLAND 
Chairman 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5



6

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 STANDARDS PANELS   
 
 

 
ASSESSMENT, REVIEW AND HEARING SUB-COMMITTEES (3)  
– (Pool of Members)  (Non-Proportional) 

 
(To be selected from the following nominees) 

 
 

 Independent 
Persons 
 

Labour  Conservative 

 (1) Chairman   
  

(1) 
 

(1) 
 

I.  
Members 
 
 

Mr James Coyle 
Dr John Kirkland 
Mr Derek John Lawrence  
(Vacancy) 

Mano Dharmarajah   
Brian Gate 
Victoria Silver 
 
 

Paul Osborn 
Simon Williams 

II. 
Reserve 
Members 

 
 
 

1. Mitzi Green  
2. Asad Omar 
3. Nana Asante 
 

1. Chris Mote 
2. Richard Romain 
3. John Nickolay 

 
 

Membership Rules 
 

(1)  The membership of the Standards Committee -  Assessment and Review 
Sub-Committees will be three persons (comprising one Independent Persons 
and one Elected Member from each of the main political parties, within the 
Standards Committee Membership); 
 
(2)  the quorum for the Sub-Committees is 3; 
 
(3)  the Sub-Committees shall be chaired by the Independent Person; 

 
(4)  Members attending a Panel be required to vote on a local determination 
and not be permitted to abstain. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 8 
Pages 7 to 8 

7



8

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 
 
REPORT FOR: 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 
 

16 June 2011 

Subject: 
 

Social Media Protocol 

Responsible Officer: 
 

Hugh Peart, Director of Legal and 
Governance Services 
 

Exempt: 
 

No 

Enclosures: 
 

Appendix 1:  
Draft Social Media Protocol 
 
 

 
Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 
 

Recommendation: 
 
That the committee recommends to Council the attached 
draft social media protocol to be included in the 
Constitution. 
 

Agenda Item 9 
Pages 9 to 18 

9



 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. A recent standards hearing subcommittee recommended that the Standards 

Committee should consider adopting a protocol on use of social media.  At the 
Standards Committee meeting on 26 April Members were presented with the 
Standards for England’s guide on blogging.  Members were asked to consider whether 
a protocol on social media use would be useful for the Council.  It was agreed that a 
Protocol on social media be developed and presented to the Committee for its 
approval.  It was further agreed that the Protocol should cover various forms of social 
media such as Facebook and Twitter.   

 
2. Members also noted, at the 26 April meeting, that it would be helpful to have case 

studies to refer to in the consideration of complaints made against Members.  An 
appendix has been added to the draft Protocol which provides the Standard for 
England’s application of cases related to social media.  

 
3. Additionally, the attached Protocol has been submitted for the committee’s approval 

prior to any upcoming training session on social media due to be held on 30 June. 
 
4. Officers have used the Standards for England guide as a basis for the Harrow Social 

Media Protocol which will form part of the Constitution once approved. 
 
5. Attached to this Report at Appendix 1 is the draft Social Media Protocol. 

 
6. Members are requested to agree the attached Social Media Protocol. 
 
 
Risk Management Implications 
 

Failing to stay informed about developments in the standards framework may impact on the 
ability of the Standards Committee to perform its role to a high standard. 

 
 

Relevant Objectives of the Standards Committee 
 

This report contributes towards the objective of ‘Internal Control’, as being aware of 
standards cases that are reported nationally will help the Committee to ensure that it deals 
with ethical governance issues in accordance with the law and in line with best practice. 

 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
This Report is relevant to the corporate priority of united and involved communities:  a 
council that listens and leads.  
  
 

Financial Implications 
 
There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
 
Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 

10



 

 
 
 

   
on behalf of the* 

Name: Steve Tingle X  Chief Financial Officer 
  
Date:  8 June 2011 

   
 
 

   
on behalf of the* 

Name: Matthew Adams X  Monitoring Officer 
 
Date: 8 June 2011 
 

   
 

 
 
Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers 
 
Contact:   
 
Jessica Farmer, Head of Legal Services – Legal Services, 0208 420 9889 
Vishal Seegoolam, Acting Senior Professional – Democratic Services, 020 8424 1883 
 
Background Papers:  None 
 
If appropriate, does the report include the following considerations?  
 
1. Consultation  NO 
2. Corporate Priorities YES  
 

11



 

M. SOCIAL MEDIA PROTOCOL 
 
What is a social media?  
Social media is a collective term used to describe easy ways to create and publish on line.  
When people talk about social media, they often make reference to some well-known tools 
or products such as blogging, Facebook, Twitter and MySpace.  
How does the Code of Conduct apply to social media sites?  
When considering the application of the Code to social media, it is essential to consider 
whether the Code will apply to your social media site and which paragraphs you should be 
aware of in order to ensure ethical use of social media sites. 
For the Code to apply to your use of social media paragraph 2 of the Code needs to be 
satisfied. Paragraph 2 makes it clear that the Code only applies when you are acting in your 
official capacity. Official capacity is defined as conducting the business of the authority or 
acting, claiming to act or giving the impression that you are acting as a councillor. The 
decision as to whether you are acting in your official capacity will depend on the particular 
facts of each case and the circumstances surrounding your social media site. There are a 
number of issues that will be taken into account when assessing this. These include:  

How well known or high profile you are as a member. The more high profile you are, 
the more likely it is that you will be seen as acting in your official capacity when you blog 
or use a social mediaing site. Anonymous use of social media can also lead to a breach 
of the code were it can be proved that a member uploaded the site content and that they 
were acting in their capacity as a member. 
The privacy settings on your blog or social media site. If you have a private, personal 

blog, ensure that you have appropriate privacy settings so that you decide who can 
read your posts. If you have a political blog this may well be open to all readers. If 
constituents are able to see your posts, they may assume that you are acting in your 
official capacity as their representative.  

The profile on your social media site. You should set out clearly in your profile if this is 
a political or personal social media site. Identifying this will enable readers to better 
understand if you are seeking to act in your official capacity or not. Nevertheless it 
may be possible in a personal social media site to give the impression that you are 
acting as a member even though you have stated otherwise. Also, you cannot discuss 
council business on a personal social media site and/or make gratuitously offensive 
remarks about others who are linked to the council and then claim to be doing so in a 
private capacity.  

When using social media sites you should bear in mind the following paragraphs of the Code 
will apply to your online behaviour just as they would to any other form of communication.  

Paragraph 3(1) - Treating others with respect: The aim of the Code is not to stifle 
political opinions and arguments. As such, political comments and comments about 
ideas are less likely to be seen as disrespectful and result in a breach of the Code. 
However, personal jibes or remarks aimed at an individual may well be seen as 
disrespectful and could lead to a breach of the Code and possible sanctions.  

Paragraph 3(2) (d) – Disclosing confidential information: Before releasing any 
information on your blog or social media site, check if it is confidential and if you have 
the right to release it.  

12



 

Paragraph 5 – Disrepute: Because of your role, your actions and behaviour are subject 
to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the public. You should be aware 
that your actions might have an impact on your office or authority. Dishonest or 
deceitful behaviour in your role as a member may bring your office or the authority into 
disrepute.  

Paragraph 6 (b) (i), 6(b) (ii) and 6(c) – Use of resources: You must not use local 
authority resources “improperly to confer on or secure for yourself or any other 
person, an advantage or disadvantage.” Also you must ensure that these resources 
are not used improperly “for political purposes” - including party political purposes. 
See the Johnson case below.  

You should also consider other online activities where the Code may apply:  
Forum posts. If you go on to a forum and identify yourself as a member then it is likely 

that the Code will apply when you post entries. If you put content on the site which you 
could only have obtained as a member it is possible to argue that you have given the 
impression that you were acting as a member even if you did not identify yourself as 
such when you made the posting.  

Comments made by others. It is also important to regularly check your own blog or 
social media site to ensure there are no defamatory or obscene comments posted by 
others. If this does happen you should remove the posts as soon as you become 
aware of them. You should also take steps to discourage users from posting such 
comments in the future.  

“Friends” on social media sites. You should be aware that anyone you include as a 
friend on social media sites could be regarded as a “person with whom you have a 
close association” within the meaning of paragraph 8 of the code – personal interests. 
Simply including someone on a site as a friend does not establish a close association 
but it is one factor that would be taken into account in deciding whether such an 
association exists.  

Human rights considerations 
In considering whether your use of social media has breached the Code, Article 10 of the 
European Convention on Human Rights (the right to freedom of expression) must also be 
taken into account. You are less likely to breach the Code where you are making genuine 
political statements. This means that you are less likely to breach the Code if your comments 
are about another member’s political position or are a genuine expression of political 
differences with someone. The courts have established that this is because of the 
fundamental importance of freedom of political expression in a democratic society. However, 
any political expression should avoid being just an expression of personal anger or abuse 
towards someone since insults and abuse do not normally qualify for the protection of Article 
10. If you make rude comments about a member of the public or an officer of an authority it 
is more likely that you will be found to have breached the Code.  
Other issues to consider 
There are also considerations apart from the Code that should be taken into account when 
using online media. The following is a brief guide to some of the legal pitfalls in establishing 
personal blogs. Almost all of these can be avoided if your online content is objective, 
balanced, informative and accurate.  
In the main, you have the same legal duties online as anyone else, but failures to comply 
with the law may have more serious consequences.  
Libel 

13



 

If you publish an untrue statement about a person which is damaging to their reputation they 
may take a libel action against you. This will also apply if you allow someone else to publish 
something libellous on your website if you know about it and do not take prompt action to 
remove it. A successful libel claim will result in an award of damages against you.  
Bias and Predetermination 
If you are involved in determining planning or licensing applications, you should avoid 
publishing anything on your blog that might suggest you have already made up your mind 
about a matter you may be involved in determining. Otherwise, the decision runs the risk of 
being invalidated.  
Copyright 
Placing images or text on your site from a copyrighted source (e.g. extracts from 
publications, photos etc) without permission is likely to breach copyright. Avoid publishing 
anything you are unsure about or seek permission in advance. Breach of copyright may 
result in an award of damages against you.  
Data protection 
Avoid publishing the personal data of individuals unless you have their express written 
permission.  
Obscene material 
It goes without saying that you should avoid publishing anything in your blog that people 
would consider obscene. Publication of obscene material is a criminal offence.  
Conclusion 
Blogging and social media sites are excellent ways to engage a wider audience. In order to 
blog successfully, you should ensure that you comply with the Code and any other legal 
requirements.  
It is also important to note that, the ethical use of online social media is not limited to what is 
covered in the Code. You should also consider the Ten General Principles of Public Life. 
While you may not be investigated or censured for using online media in certain ways, your 
conduct might still be viewed as less than exemplary and attract adverse publicity for your 
office and authority.  

14



 

APPENDIX 1 – Application of cases 
Examples which illustrate how the First Tier Tribunal and standards committees have viewed 
cases involving social media can be found in the following cases: 
Councillor Mullaney APE 0400 and High Court judgment  
Birmingham City Council 
In this decision factors relevant to the conclusion that conduct was within “official capacity” 
included the following 

• The subject member trespassed onto an individual’s property and shot a video that he 
subsequently posted on You Tube. The aim of the video was to galvanise the planning 
department into taking action concerning the building.  

• The YouTube video concerned identified the subject member at the outset.  
• The subject member identified himself several times as a member.  
• The video was subsequently published on the subject member’s website - the 

homepage of which identified him as a member.  
• References were made in the video to the jurisdiction of the subject member’s council.  
• The subject member failed to remove or edit the video when requested.  
• The tribunal decision on breach was upheld by the High Court and the case was sent 

back to the Appeals Tribunal to consider if the sanction they applied was appropriate.  
• The sanction applied was a one month suspension. 

Councillor McTigue APE 0421  
Middlesbrough Council 
The Appeals Tribunal accepted that 

• Even if it became clear from the forum (an on-line forum hosted by the local 
newspaper) that an individual who was posting on the forum was a member, the Code 
would not automatically be engaged.  

• The question was whether in the postings on the forum the member was deemed to 
be, or gave the impression that he or she was “acting in the role of member”.  

• This was fact-sensitive and would very much depend on the content of the postings.  
• The subject member had used a pseudonym and stated that she was on the forum as 

a resident who just happened to be a member. Taking the contents of the postings as 
a whole the member did give the impression that she was acting in the role of member 
and representing the council. In a series of posts the subject member discussed 
council business, outlined what had happened at council meetings and referred to 
herself as a councillor.  

• Sanction applied was a two month suspension. 
Mayor Johnson  
Greater London Authority Standards Committee Decision  

• The Mayor of London linked in his tweet to the front page of the Sun, which on that 
day had announced its decision to endorse the Conservative party.  

15



 

• The standards committee found that he had breached paragraph 6(b) (ii) of the 
authority’s Code because he tweeted using his mayoral twitter feed (thus using GLA 
resources) and was considered to be seeking to affect party political support.  

• Sanction applied was for the monitoring officer to speak to the Mayor about his 
responsibilities under the code.  

Councillor Sharratt APE 0458  
South Ribble Borough Council  

• The member was a journalist who published a small journal.  
• The member neither claimed nor gave the impression of acting as a representative of 

the council. The magazine was ’published for fun’, and a member of the public would 
be in no doubt, the panel said, that the journal was not a matter that was the business 
of the council.  

• The Standards Committee accepted the argument that Cllr Sharratt used the 
magazine to conduct public discourse on the council and party issues, and that his 
activities on the council, the magazine and the party were seamlessly connected. 
However, the First-tier Tribunal disagreed. It said the decision in the case of 
Livingstone referring to ‘activities which are apparently within the performance of a 
member’s functions’ should be narrowly construed.  

• The appeals tribunal rejected the finding of the standards committee and concluded 
there had been no breach of the Code.  

• No breach. 
Councillor Barnbrook APE 470/471  
London Borough of Barking and Dagenham  

• The member appealed the decision of the standards committee of the London 
Borough of Barking and Dagenham.  

• The member published a video on a website concerning statements about knife crime 
that were inaccurate.  

• The key question considered by the tribunal was whether the member was acting in 
his official capacity when making the video.  

• There was no evidence to support the position that the member was conducting the 
‘business of the Council’ and the parties did not put forward any arguments to this 
effect  

• The Tribunal was drawn to the conclusion that the making of the video was not 
proximate enough to the role of member so as to bring him into the ambit of acting in 
his capacity as a member. The Tribunal considered the following factors in reaching 
its conclusion:  

o The member was making a video on behalf of the BNP with its primary purpose 
being party political;  

o He was not identified as a member for the London Borough of Barking & 
Dagenham;  

o He was not taking forward an issue relevant primarily to the London Borough of 
Barking & Dagenham;  

o He was not taking forward an issue on behalf of an individual constituent; and,  
16



 

o The video dealt with a range of issues and the Appellant did not concentrate 
upon issues within the London Borough of Barking & Dagenham.  

• No breach.  
(source: Standards for England) 
 

17



18

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 
 

16 June 2011 

Subject: 
 

Standards Decisions 

Responsible Officer: 
 

Hugh Peart, Director of Legal and 
Governance Services 
 

Exempt: 
 

No 

Enclosures: 
 

Appendix 1:  
Appeals Tribunal Decision – London 
Borough of Hillingdon (Member: Councillor 
Cox) 
 
Appendix 2: 
Appeals Tribunal Decision – Shepway 
District Council (Member: Councillor 
Capon) 
 
Appendix 3: 
First Tier Tribunal Decision – Blaby 
District Council (Member: Councillor 
Gutteridge) 
 
Appendix 4: 
First Tier Tribunal Decision – Brentwood 
Borough Council (Member: Councillor 
Barry Aspinell) 

 

Agenda Item 10 
Pages 19 to 48 

19



 

 

 
Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 
 
 
 

Recommendation: 
 
That the committee:- 
 

1. notes the attached standards decisions. 
2. notes the progress of the working group on the future of 

the standards regime. 
 
 
 

20



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 3 
 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. While the majority of investigations into complaints that members of local 

authorities have breached their authority’s Code of Conduct are conducted locally, 
the most serious cases are referred to Standards for England.  Where a Standards 
for England investigation reveals evidence of a serious breach of the Code, the 
case is referred to the First Tier Tribunal (Local Government Standards in England), 
part of the General Regulatory Chamber, for a decision. The First Tier Tribunal is 
also the body that hears appeals against Standards Committee decisions. 

 
2. Standards for England publishes summaries of the cases it investigates on its 

website. The decisions of the First Tier Tribunal are also publicly available. There is 
therefore an expanding body of local government standards case decisions 
available, which can assist authorities and their Standards Committees in 
interpreting the Code, and help Standards Committees to decide the cases they 
hear. 

 
3. Attached to this Report at Appendixes 1, 2 and 3 are four standards decisions: two 

of which have been considered by the former Adjudication Panel (on 18 January 
2010 the functions of the Adjudication Panel for England were transferred to the 
First-Tier Tribunal and the Adjudication Panel for England was abolished) and two 
cases which have been considered by the First Tier Tribunal.  Several of the cases 
are all on bullying and disrespect to officers and members contrary to paragraphs 3 
and 5 of the Code of Conduct for members. 

 
4. The cases are summarised as follows: 
 

APE 0425 
A councillor had inadvertently and under the pressure of barracking and his own 
strong feelings described the conservative ruling group as ‘corrupt’. On appeal this 
was held to have been disrespectful, and brought his office and the council into 
disrepute. However the decision of the standards committee not to impose a 
sanction was upheld.  
APE 0399 
A tribunal considered the threshold for a failure to treat others with respect. The 
councillor made comments about the town clerk at a parish meeting saying that an 
officer found her “difficult to get on with”. The councillor added that “this is also the 
view of many towns’ people who say that when they try to contact the town clerk, 
she is downright rude to them”.  
The Tribunal considered that the threshold for a failure to treat another with respect 
has to be set at a level that allows for the passion and frustration that often 
accompanies political debate and the discussion of the efficient running of a 
council. It should also be set within the context of who was involved in the 
exchange.  
In this case, the comments were opinions of other individuals which the member 
honestly believed to be true. The member’s conduct was not unfair, unreasonable 
or demeaning to the town clerk and not made in a malicious or bullying manner. 
The town clerk was very experienced in her dealings with councillors and given her 

21



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 4 
 

seniority was entirely able to defend her position. Therefore, the tribunal decided 
that the threshold was not reached 
LGS/2010/495 
This case concerned how much a senior officer should be prepared to accept 
robust criticism made in public. In this case the words were personal and highly 
critical and made in a public arena where the clerk had no right of reply, no 
opportunity to contradict and where she was largely defenceless. The subject 
member was suspended for four months or until such time as she apologised to the 
clerk in a form to be provided by the standards committee.  

 
  LGS/2010/0521 
 

This case concerned an appeal against the decision of the Standards Committee to 
suspend the Councillor for seven weeks for a breach of paragraph 5 of the Code of 
Conduct (bringing your office or authority into disrepute). 

 
5.  Members are requested to note the attached decisions.  
 
6. At the Standards Committee meeting on 26 April, it was agreed that a member and 

officer working group be established to consider and produce recommendations 
about the type and content of a future standards regime and then to report back to 
the Committee.  It was agreed that the working group would be comprised of 2 
Labour Members, 2 Conservative Members and 1 Independent Member and that 
nominations would be requested from the Group Leaders. 

 
7. At the time of writing, we have had one Labour group volunteer.  The Conservative 

group have yet to make any nominations although the deadline for nominations is 
10 June. 

 
Risk Management Implications 
 

Failing to stay informed about developments in the standards framework may impact on 
the ability of the Standards Committee to perform its role to a high standard. 

 
Relevant Objectives of the Standards Committee 

 
This report contributes towards the objective of ‘Internal Control’, as being aware of 
standards cases that are reported nationally will help the Committee to ensure that it 
deals with ethical governance issues in accordance with the law and in line with best 
practice. 

 
Corporate Priorities 
 
This Report is relevant to the corporate priority of united and involved communities:  a 
council that listens and leads.  
  
 

Financial Implications 
 
There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

22



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 5 
 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 
 
 

   
on behalf of the* 

Name: Steve Tingle X  Chief Financial Officer 
  
Date:  8 June 2011 

   
 
 

   
on behalf of the* 

Name: Matthew Adams X  Monitoring Officer 
 
Date: 8 June 2011 
 

   
 

 
 
Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers 
 
Contact:   
 
Jessica Farmer, Head of Legal Services – Legal Services, 0208 420 9889 
Vishal Seegoolam, Acting Senior Professional – Democratic Services, 020 8424 1883 
 
Background Papers:  None 
 
If appropriate, does the report include the following considerations?  
 
1. Consultation  NO 
2. Corporate Priorities YES  
 
 
  

23



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 6 
 

  
Appeals Tribunal Decision  

 
Case Ref:     APE 0425 
 
Date of Appeals Tribunal:   23 June 2009 
 
Relevant Standards Committee:  London Borough of Hillingdon 
 
Date of Standards Committee  
Decision:     3 March 2009 
     
Name of member concerned:  Councillor Michael Cox of same authority 
 
Monitoring Officer:    Raj Alagh 
 
Independent Investigator:  David Lunn 
 
Appeals Tribunal Members 
Chairman:     Chris Hughes 
Member:     Trevor Jex 
Member:     Peter Dawson 
 
1. The Appeals Tribunal has considered an appeal from the Appellant about the above decision. 
2. The Appeals Tribunal has considered written and oral submissions from both parties and has 

heard evidence from a number of witnesses called on behalf of the parties. 
3. The Appellant had appealed against the decision of the Hearing Sub-Committee of London 

Borough of Hillingdon’s Standards Committee (the Standards Committee) that he had had 
failed to follow paragraphs 3(1) and 5 of the Code of Conduct when he used the word 
‘corrupt’ against Conservative members at a full council meeting on 17 January 2008. 

4. Paragraph 3(1) of the Code provides: 
“You must treat others with respect.” 

5. Paragraph 5 of the Code provides: 
“You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as 
bringing your office or authority into disrepute.” 

6. In this appeal by way of re-hearing from that decision the Appeals Tribunal has determined 
that the Appellant did fail to follow the provisions of the Code. 
6.1. The subject matter of this appeal was within a very tight focus.  During a contribution 

to a council debate on 17th January 2008 it was alleged that Councillor Cox referred 
to the ruling Conservative group on the council as corrupt.  The Tribunal heard 
evidence from councillors as well as an officer and the public.    

24



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 7 
 

6.2. In his evidence Councillor Cox stated that he was not a good public speaker and the 
tribunal accepted that.  To make up for this deficiency it was his custom to prepare a 
statement and deliver it as his contribution to debate. In the written statement 
(which was in evidence before the Tribunal) he referred to a “corrupt system of 
democracy”.   From his evidence to the Appeals Tribunal it was clear that Councillor 
Cox believes that the Conservative Group acted corruptly in its approval of changes to 
the governance arrangements for the council.  A number of witnesses gave evidence 
that they could not recall him using the word corrupt.  Others had heard it.  In 
particular Councillor Lewis recalled the comment “You’re all corrupt” being made by 
Councillor Cox as a throwaway remark as he was being heckled.  Mr Revell, who was 
at the time Interim Head of Democratic Services and responsible for keeping a record 
of the meeting recalled Councillor Cox describing Conservative councillors as corrupt. 

6.3. The Appeals Tribunal was satisfied that all the witnesses who gave evidence were 
giving their honest recollections of a fleeting event which happened over a year ago.  
No one was trying to mislead the Tribunal.  In considering the evidence the Tribunal 
has had to weigh competing recollections of the events in the light of the quality of 
the evidence.  Like the Standards Committee it was particularly impressed by the 
evidence of Mr Revell which the Appeals Tribunal found impartial, credible and 
compelling.  The Appeals Tribunal also found the evidence of Councillor Lewis 
particularly persuasive.  The Tribunal has weighed all the evidence before it and is 
satisfied, on the balance of probabilities that Councillor Cox, under the pressure of 
barracking and his own strong feelings about the behaviour of the majority group, 
inadvertently referred to that group as corrupt.   

6.4. The Appeals Tribunal was satisfied that this was a throwaway remark made without 
malicious intent.  However it was said in a full council meeting at which councillors, 
council officers and members of the public were present.  By making that comment 
Councillor Cox failed to treat his fellow councillors with respect.  By making such a 
claim without justification he brought his own office into disrepute.  By making an 
unjustified claim that the majority group of the Council was corrupt he brought the 
authority itself into disrepute.   

7. The Appeals Tribunal has upheld the finding of the Standards Committee that there was a 
breach of the Code of Conduct. 

8. The Standards Committee concluded that in all the circumstances it was appropriate to 
impose no sanction with respect to this conduct.  The Appeals Tribunal shares that view. 

9. A copy of this determination is being given to the Appellant, the Standards Board, the 
Standards Committee and any person who made the allegation that gave rise to the 
investigation. 

10. This determination will be published in a newspaper circulating in the area of the relevant 
local authority and also published on the Adjudication Panel’s website at 
www.adjudicationpanel.tribunals.gov.uk. 

Chris Hughes 
Chairman of the Appeals Tribunal 
4th July 2009 

25



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 8 
 

 
23 Victoria Avenue, Harrogate HG1 5RD Tel: 01423 538783: www.adjudicationpanel.co.uk 

 
Appeals Tribunal Decision 

 
Case Ref:     APE 0399 
Date of Appeal Tribunal Hearing: 16 May 2008 
Relevant Standards Committee:  Shepway District Council 
Date of Standards Committee  
Decision:     26 February 2008 
     
Name of member concerned:  Councillor Capon of  Hythe Town   
(Appellant & his authority)   Council 
 
Ethical Standards Officer (ESO):  Ms Jennifer Rogers 
 
Monitoring Officer:    Mr Peter Wignall 
 
Independent Investigator:  Mr Kris Malde 
 
Appeals Tribunal Members: 
Chairman     Mr Steve Wells 
Member     Mr Chris Perrett 
Member     Mr Darryl Stephenson 
 
 
1. The Appeals Tribunal has considered an appeal from the Appellant in respect of a decision of 

the Shepway District Council Standards Committee. It has been agreed, both by the 
Appellant and the Shepway District Council Standards Committee, that the Appeal be 
considered in the absence of the parties and by way of written representations. 

2. The Appeals Tribunal has considered the written submissions from the Appellant and the 
Monitoring Officer, Mr Wignall, on behalf of the Shepway District Council Standards 
Committee and determined that it is appropriate to deal with the Appeal by way of the 
written representations. 

3. The Appellant appealed against the Standards Committee’s finding that he had failed to 
follow paragraphs 2(b), 2(c) and 4 of the Code of Conduct through the comments he made 
about the Town Clerk on 20 July 2006 at a meeting of the Charity Trustees. Councillor Capon 
made the comment that the Public Rights of Way Officer had found the Town Clerk 'difficult 
to get on with’ and further commented very shortly afterwards in the same meeting that 'this 
is also the view of many towns' people who say that when they try to contact the Town 
Clerk she is downright rude to them….’   

4. Findings of Fact 
4.1. The facts found in the original Investigating Officer’s report were undisputed namely: 

26



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 9 
 

4.1.1. That on 20 July 2006, at a meeting of the Charity Trustees, Councillor 
Capon made the comment that the Public Rights of Way Officer had found 
the Town Clerk 'difficult to get on with.' 

4.1.2. That Councillor Capon further commented 'this is also the view of many 
townspeople who say that when they try to contact the Town Clerk she is 
downright rude to them ...' 

4.2 The findings of fact were adopted by the Standards Committee at its hearing on 20 
February 2008. 

5. Paragraph 2(b) of the Code provides: 
“A member must treat others with respect.” 

6. Paragraph 2(c) of the Code provides: 
“A member must not do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the 
impartiality of those who work for or on behalf of the authority." 

7. Paragraph 4 of the Code provides: 
“A member must not in his official capacity, or any other circumstance, conduct 
himself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing his office or 
authority into disrepute.” 

8. The Appellant has appealed against the action which the Standards Committee decided to 
take in the light of the failure to follow the provisions of the Code of Conduct. That action 
was to censure the Appellant. 

9. The Appellant, in his grounds of appeal cites a number of procedural matters in respect of 
the Standards Committee hearing which in his view amounted to a breach of natural justice.  
The Monitoring Officer provides explanations to counter each of the perceived procedural 
breaches.  However, in view of the fact that the Appeals Tribunal is able to determine the 
facts and whether there has been a failure to follow the provisions of the Code of Conduct 
by way of a review it does not propose to adjudicate on any procedural flaws other than to 
comment on two procedural matters which the Standards Committee may wish to consider 
in respect of future hearings namely: 
9.1 It is important that the hearing (including the evidence of witnesses and their cross 

examination) is heard in public, subject to the usual caveats in respect of confidential 
or privileged evidence, and that access by the public to the hearing venue is 
facilitated by clear signage and appropriate notice.  Where a hearing or part of a 
hearing is to be convened in private the reasons for so doing should be clearly 
expressed to the public present and preferably reduced to writing. 

9.2 Where the facts of the case are undisputed and the case is being heard in the 
absence of the respondent councillor on the basis of papers served on him or her 
before the hearing, further evidence should not be introduced to the Committee 
without giving the respondent councillor the opportunity to have sight of the 
substance of that evidence so that a decision could be made whether or not he/she 
should attend the hearing to rebut the evidence or to make written representations in 
respect of it. 

10. From the documentation presented to the Appeals Tribunal it appears that the Shepway 
District Council Standards Committee chose not fully to follow the guidance produced by the 

27



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 10 
 

Standards Board to Monitoring Officers and Standards Committees in respect of the conduct 
of hearings and the pre-hearing process.  Whilst The Appeals Tribunal acknowledges that 
Standards Committees are free to regulate their own procedures, following the guidance 
provides a firm procedural foundation for the hearings of the Committee.  Not doing so in 
respect of Councillor Capon’s case this may have led to a degree of unfairness at the hearing 
on 20 February 2008.   

11. The Appeals Tribunal has determined that the Appellant did not fail to follow the provisions 
of the Code for the following reasons: 
Paragraph 2(b) of the Code 

 
11.1 The Standards Committee's reasons for finding that Councillor Capon failed to 

comply with paragraph 2(b) of the Code of Conduct were that Councillor Capon 
failed to treat the Town Clerk with respect by using inappropriate language in a 
public forum and failed to rectify this when the opportunity arose and reinforced his 
point by further additional remarks. There is no suggestion in the evidence that the 
comments made by Councillor Capon, which form the undisputed facts of this case, 
were anything other than the opinion of individuals other than the councillor.  Nor is 
it suggested that Councillor Capon was doing anything other than report the 
comments of others to the 20 July meeting.  There is evidence to suggest that 
Councillor Capon and the Town Clerk had previously had disagreements in respect 
of council matters and that Councillor Capon had been opposed to the manner of 
her appointment.  However, the Appeals Tribunal finds no evidence to suggest that 
the councillor’s conduct was unfair, unreasonable or demeaning towards the Town 
Clerk.  The Investigating Officer, Mr Malde is clear in his report about the 
allegations that having listened to the tape of the 20 July meeting, Councillor 
Capon’s comments were not made in a malicious or bullying manner.  The context 
of the first comment was entirely within the compass of the meeting since it related 
to comments attributed to Mr Denne, a Kent County Council Public Rights of Way 
Officer, in the context of a discussion related to a public bridleway, aspects of 
access to which was apparently disputed.  The fact that Councillor Capon refused to 
apologise for comments that he honestly believed to be true and was simply 
reporting and then failing to apologise, cannot, in the opinion of the Appeals 
Tribunal, amount to treating the Town Clerk disrespectfully. Consequently, the 
Appeals Tribunal dismisses the finding of the Standards Committee that Councillor 
Capon was in breach paragraph 2(b) of the Code. 

 
Paragraph 2(c) of the Code 

 
11.2 The Standards Committee’s reasons for finding that Councillor Capon failed to 

comply with this aspect of the Code (although the Committee attributed this 
reasoning  to its decision about paragraph 4) was that Councillor Capon had 
behaved in a way that was likely to compromise the impartiality, in this case, of the 
Town Clerk by acting in a manner that was likely to inhibit the ability of the Town 
Clerk in fulfilling her functions effectively when dealing with officers and officials at 
Kent County Council.  It is undisputed that the Town Clerk deals on a professional 
basis with local members and officers from neighbouring authorities.  Whilst the 
Town Clerk, in evidence at the Standards Committee hearing, may have expressed 
an opinion about her ability to fulfil her duties with local members and officers as a 
result of Councillor Capon’s comments this is not included in the decision of the 
Standards Committee and can only be a matter of speculation for the Appeals 
Tribunal.  The Investigating Officer’s report attributes Councillor Matthews in his 
response to the Draft Investigation report as stating that “Mr Denne and the Town 
Clerk were able and willing to be ‘very’ friendly towards each other at a subsequent 

28



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 11 
 

site visit”.  As this evidence comes from the original complainant in this case, the 
Appeals Tribunal finds it compelling in determining that the Town Clerk’s dealings 
with Mr Denne were in no way inhibited by the comments made by Councillor 
Capon.  Additionally, there is no evidence to suggest that the comments made 
inhibited the ability of the Town Clerk to fulfil her functions in other aspects of her 
work.  The positive dealings between Mr Denne and the Town Clerk reported by 
Councillor Matthews and the lack of any evidence of other problems leads the 
Appeals Tribunal to conclude that Councillor Capon’s comments would not be likely 
to lead to the Town Clerk being unable to fulfil her functions and would not appear 
to have compromised the impartiality of the Town Clerk working on behalf of the 
authority.  Consequently, the Appeals Tribunal dismisses the finding of the 
Standards Committee that Councillor Capon was in breach paragraph 2(c) of the 
Code. 

 
Paragraph 4 of the Code 

 
11.3 The Standards Committee’s reasoning for finding Councillor Capon to be in breach 

of this aspect of the Code was his failure to  apologise, compromise or cooperate 
during a public forum, namely the Extra-ordinary Charity Trustees Meeting held on 
20 July 2006. 

 
11.4 The Oxford English Dictionary defines disrepute as a ‘lack of good reputation or 

respectability’. A member will have failed to comply with the Code if his or her 
conduct could ‘reasonably be regarded’ by an objective observer as bringing the 
member’s office or authority into disrepute. Anything which diminishes public 
confidence in either a member’s office or their authority, or which harms, or could 
harm, the reputation of an authority, will bring that office or authority into 
disrepute. 

 
11.5 In the Appeals Tribunal’s view, it is important that members should be able to 

express in robust terms concerns that they have about any aspect of the running of 
the council and that this can include expressing disagreement with officers and can 
include criticism of the way in which an officer handles particular matters. During 
the 20 July meeting the Town Clerk chose to publicly question Councillor Capon 
about a letter that she believed should have been passed to her (it is interesting to 
note that the minutes of the meeting suggest that the letter had been previously 
circulated, a fact seemingly corroborated by the statement made by the Town 
Mayor during the verbal exchange that the letter made ‘some quite startling 
statements’).  

 
Councillor Capon then made the first of the two undisputed comments that is the 
subject of this Appeal.  The Appeals Tribunal considers that the threshold for a 
failure to treat another with respect has to be set at a level that allowed for the 
passion and frustration that often accompanies political debate and the discussion 
of the efficient running of a council and within the context of those involved in the 
exchange.  The Appeals Tribunal is of the opinion that the Town Clerk, who had 
been in post since the middle of 1999 and was clearly very experienced in her 
dealings with councillors chose to debate the letter with Councillor Capon, and 
given her seniority within the administration of the council, was entirely able to 
defend her position.  In the transcript of the tape recording of the relevant part of 
the meeting the Town Clerk sought an apology, did not receive one and then 
Councillor Carroll suggested that he be allowed to put forward a motion that 
Councillor Capon apologise or leave the room.  At this point Councillor Capon 
refused to apologise, made the second undisputed comment and then left the 
room.  The Appeals Tribunal sees nothing in the evidence submitted to suggest that 

29



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 12 
 

Councillor Capon conducted himself in a manner which could reasonably be 
regarded as bringing his office or authority into disrepute.  He was engaging in 
political debate, and in doing so was simply publicly expressing the opinion of 
others about their ability to engage with the Town Clerk in a manner which was 
acknowledged to be neither bullying nor malicious.  Whilst this was undoubtedly 
uncomfortable for the Town Clerk and it could be argued that it might have been 
better expressed in a more appropriate forum, the Appeals Tribunal does not 
believe that a reasonable objective observer of the proceedings would think that 
the comments would bring the office of councillor or the authority into disrepute.  
Consequently, the Appeals Tribunal dismisses the finding of the Standards 
Committee that Councillor Capon was in breach paragraph 4 of the Code. 

 
12. The Appeals Tribunal has dismissed the findings of the Standards Committee. 
13. The decision of the Appeals Tribunal is unanimous 
14. A copy of this determination is being sent to the Appellant, the Ethical Standards Officer, the 

Standards Committee and any person who made the allegation that gave rise to the 
investigation. 

15. The decision of the Standards Committee ceases immediately to have effect. 
16. This determination will be published in a newspaper circulating in the area of the local 

authority and will also be published on the Adjudication Panel’s website at 
www.adjudicationpanel.co.uk. 

 
Steve Wells 
Chairman of the Appeals Tribunal 
 
16 May 2008 

30



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 13 
 

 
IN THE FIRST-TIER TRIBUNAL            CASE NO: LGS/2010/0495  
GENERAL REGULATORY CHAMBER 
(Local Government Standards in England) 
  
ON APPEAL FROM: 
Standards Committee of:   Blaby District Council  
Decision Notice No:   SC-09-01 
Dated:     5 February 2010  
 
APPELLANT:    Councillor Lorna Gutteridge of Blaby Parish Council 

RESPONDENT:      Blaby District Council Standards Committee 

DATE OF HEARING:  21 May 2010 

HEARD AT:    Holiday Inn, Leicester  

DATE OF DECISION:  3 June 2010 
 

BEFORE 
 

Judge: Sally Lister 
Member: Stan Szaroleta  
Member: Richard Enderby 

 
 
ATTENDANCES:  
 
For the Appellant:   Appeared in person 
For the Respondent:  Mr A Cross (Investigating Officer) 
 
Subject matter:   Appeal by a member of a local authority   
     against a Standards Committee decision 
 
Cases: Sanders v Steven Kingston [2005] EWHC          
 1145 (Admin) 
                                                     Livingstone v The Adjudication Panel   
                                                     for England [2006] EWHC 2533 (Admin)  
 
 
 

31



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 14 
 

IN THE FIRST-TIER TRIBUNAL            CASE NO: LGS/2010/0495  
GENERAL REGULATORY CHAMBER 
(Local Government Standards in England) 
 

 
DECISION OF THE FIRST-TIER TRIBUNAL 

 
The appeal has been partly upheld in that the Appellant did bring her office but not her authority 
into disrepute. The other findings of the Standards Committee that the Appellant had failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct were upheld. The Tribunal has varied the sanctions imposed by 
the Standards Committee. 

 
 

REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
 
1. The Tribunal has considered an appeal from Councillor Lorna Gutteridge, the Appellant, 

about the decision of Blaby District Council’s Standards Committee on 5 February 2010.   
2. The Tribunal has considered written and oral submissions from Mr Anthony Cross on behalf 

of the Standards Committee and the Appellant. No oral evidence was given.   
3. The Appellant has appealed against the Standards Committee’s finding that she had failed to 

follow the Code of Conduct when she submitted a written report to the General Purposes 
Committee which inappropriately included her views of the Parish Clerk and against its 
decision that the Appellant be suspended for a period of up to three months, which was 
suspended until May 2011 and submit a personal written apology to the Parish Clerk and 
Blaby Parish Council in a form specified by the Standards Committee within three months of 
the full decision being delivered. It was also decided that failure to submit the written 
apologies would result in suspension. In addition to this, Blaby Parish Council was to 
undertake appropriate training to be arranged by the Monitoring Officer within this [2010] 
calendar year.  

Preliminary matters 
4. Prior to the hearing the Principle Judge had directed the parties to submit written 

submissions on whether the Appellant had failed to treat others with respect and whether 
the Appellant had conducted herself in a manner that could reasonably be regarded as 
bringing her office or authority into disrepute, as neither parties in their submissions to the 
Tribunal prior to the hearing had addressed these key issues.  

5. It was then necessary for a further direction to be given by the Tribunal Judge as it 
appeared both parties needed clarification of the issues to be determined by the Tribunal. 
That direction confirmed that the Tribunal would not be acting as a disciplinary committee in 
respect of the conduct of the Parish Clerk but would be considering whether the Appellant’s 
conduct breached the Parish Council’s Code of Conduct.  

6. Both parties confirmed at a preliminary stage of the hearing that it was unlikely that they 
would call witnesses and agreed the following facts which were found by the Tribunal.  

Findings of Facts  

32



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 15 
 

7. The Appellant was first appointed to Blaby Parish Council in 1976. She was also a councillor 
on the District Council until 1992. 

8. The Appellant was not a parish councillor between 1991 and 2002. 
9. The Appellant signed an undertaking to observe the Council’s Code of Conduct on 12 June 

2007 and undertook training which included training on the Code of Conduct on 11 July 
2007. 

10. The Appellant is currently Chair of the Council’s Staff and Finance Committee, Vice Chair of 
the Council’s General Purposes Committee and Chair of the Parish Council’s Future Events 
Working Party.  

11. On or around the summer of 2008, the Appellant began to have concerns about the 
performance of Ms Hansford, the Parish Clerk.  

12. After the September General Purposes Committee meeting, the Appellant wrote two formal 
letters of complaint against the Parish Clerk to the Chair of the Parish Council, Mr Harding, 
listing a number of concerns, which the Tribunal was led to understand was in excess of 30 
matters. 

13. The Parish Clerk subsequently instituted a grievance against the Appellant. 
14. On the 13 February 2009 the Council’s Disciplinary Committee considered the Parish Clerk’s 

grievance and did not uphold it. 
15. On the 18 February 2009 the Disciplinary Committee considered the Appellant’s complaints 

against the Parish Clerk and upheld the majority, but not all of the Appellant’s complaints. 
The Parish Clerk was given a “final written warning”. 

16. The Parish Clerk appealed the decisions of the Disciplinary Committee and on 15 April 2009 
the Appeals Committee down graded the decision of the Disciplinary Committee to a “written 
warning”. It also reaffirmed the Disciplinary Committee’s decision not to uphold the Parish 
Clerk’s grievance against the Appellant.  

17. On the 13 April 2009 a car boot sale took place organised by the Council’s Future Events 
Working party.  

18. The Appellant wrote a report of the event which stated:   
“OVERALL: 
The banners should have been up for seven days in a prominent place and this did not 
happen. They were ordered wrongly and too late and not placed on site in the position as 
requested. The low number of booters must be attributed [to] very poor banner display 
and to the incompetent and lack of support of the parish back office management. 
That the take from this Car Boot was £412.80 was in no small way due to the in-village 
poster publicity organised by Mr & Mrs Cawrey. Over 600 people and their children visited 
the Car Boot and made the day a success in spite of having had to ‘push the steam roller 
uphill’ to achieve it. 
As a councillor I am a volunteer and not paid for my services but it seems that I do much 
work and spend many hours on council work that should be done by the parish office. Any 
manager in a similar situation would be ashamed to have this level of incompetence and 
lack of support attributed to their office. Blaby parish clerk is paid a substantial salary to 

33



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 16 
 

serve this parish council but clearly this abysmal and inefficient service and support is 
totally inadequate, inefficient and unacceptable.”    

19. That report was considered by the Future Events Working Party at its meeting on the 20 
April 2009. That meeting was open to the public.  

20. The Parish Clerk did not attend the meeting of the 20 April 2009. The minutes of the 
meeting were prepared by the Appellant who later submitted them to the Parish Clerk by 
email in PDF format which meant they could not be amended.   

21. The minutes of the Future Events Working Party of the 20 April 2009 and the report of the 
Appellant were considered by the General Purposes Committee of the Parish Council on 28 
April 2009. That meeting was open to the public and the Appellant’s report was available to 
the public.   

The Paragraphs of the Code relevant to this appeal.           
22. Paragraph 3(1) of the Parish Council’s Code of Conduct provides: 

 “You must treat others with respect” 
23. Paragraph 5 of the Parish Council’s Code of Conduct  provides:  

“You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could be reasonably be regarded as 
bringing your office or authority into disrepute”  

Findings as to whether the Appellant failed to follow the Code  
24. The two matters to be determined on the basis of the facts as found are whether the 

Appellant’s comments about the Parish Clerk, contained in her report of 13 April 2009 and 
which was considered by the Future Events Working Party and the General Purposes 
Committee of the Parish Council, was conduct which failed to treat others with respect 
and/or could reasonably be regarded as bringing her office or authority into disrepute.   

25. The Tribunal finds and the Appellant does not dispute that she was acting in her official 
capacity when she wrote her report about the car boot sale and when the report was 
considered at the two meetings of the Parish Council on the 20 and 28 April 2009, both of 
which the Appellant attended in her capacity as Chair and Vice Chair respectively. 

Submission made on behalf of the Appellant  
26. In summary the Appellant disputed that her comments contained in her report in respect of 

the Parish Clerk breached the Code of Conduct.  
27. In the Appellant’s opinion many things went wrong with the organisation of the car boot sale 

which was due to the lack of support she felt she received from the Parish Clerk and her 
office. This had caused her a great deal of frustration. In her opinion her report was factual, 
to the point and true.  

28. The Appellant did not think the Parish Clerk would have taken much notice of the content of 
her report and that in her opinion the Parish Clerk viewed herself as a chief executive above 
criticism, rather than as an administrator and would just shake any criticism off. Had the 
Parish Clerk had any concerns about the report she could have requested that the General 
Proposes Committee move to “Closed session” which she did not do.  

34



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 17 
 

29. In her written submission the Appellant stated that her concerted and continuous efforts 
leading up to the time of the car boot sale were done with the intention of keeping Blaby 
Parish Council’s good name intact. She stated that for many years she had helped to build 
up the good reputation of Blaby Parish Council and was determined to keep it that way.  All 
her requests and enquiries relevant to this car boot sale were aimed at averting the possible 
cancellation of the event due, in her words “to the incompetence of the Clerk”. 

30. The six annual car boot sales were always well advertised and publicised in advance of the 
event and had become very welcome events in Blaby Parish. If the car boot sale had had to 
be cancelled then, in her opinion, the name of Blaby Parish Council would have been brought 
into disrepute.  

31. In the Appellant’s view her Easter Sunday was far from peaceful as it was spent running 
around doing jobs that, in her opinion the Clerk should have done and is paid to do. The 
Appellant stated that no apology for this incompetence has ever been received from the 
Clerk. Her frustration at what she saw as the “inadequacy, inefficiency and unacceptable 
incompetence of the Clerk” resulted in her decision to write the report in order that all Blaby 
Parish councillors were aware of the Clerk’s dreadful incompetence and lack of support for 
the general public and their parish council events. 

32. With reference to the wording used in the final paragraph of her report, she wished to 
exercise her right to freedom of thought and expression as enshrined in Article 10 of the 
European Commission on Human Rights. In English Law this is expressed in the Human 
Rights Act 1988, Chapter 42 and section 6(1).  

33. Further, she has never caused a breach of the Equality Enactments as regards the Parish 
Clerk. She has never bullied, intimidated or been disrespectful towards her and has never 
tried to compromise her in any way. She does not feel she has questioned the Parish Clerk’s 
integrity or her impartiality. All she has done, in the Appellant’s submission, is to criticise her 
incompetence which, as a councillor, she feels obliged to do in the interests and welfare of 
Blaby parishioners.  

Submission made on behalf of the Standards Committee 
34. In summary it was submitted on behalf of the Standards Committee that the Committee was 

correct in deciding that the concluding paragraph of the Appellant’s report of the car boot 
sale on 13 April 2009 had breached Blaby Parish Council’s Code of Conduct. 

 
35. Whether the Appellant’s behaviour in terms of what she wrote in the concluding paragraph 

of the report is acceptable has to be looked at objectively, i.e. how what she wrote would 
reasonably be perceived as well as her intention in writing it. 

 
36. A balance has to be drawn as to how far the Appellant can go in criticising the Parish 

Council’s Clerk. Care has to be taken to avoid treating the Clerk in a way which is unfair, 
unreasonable and demeaning.  The comments, especially the reference to “incompetence”, 
would clearly be perceived as an expression of anger and abuse. The tone of the concluding 
paragraph is offensive and intimidating and is clearly disrespectful to the Clerk. 

 
37. The Appellant’s concerns could and should have been expressed differently, such as in a 

private meeting involving the Parish Council’s Chairman and the Clerk or in a more 
moderately worded report. 

 
38. The comments were not endorsed subsequently by the Parish Council. Some of the earlier 

comments made in the report were not found to be correct. 
 

35



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 18 
 

39. It is submitted that the concluding paragraph is clearly unreasonable in the way it is worded. 
The Clerk was not able to amend the report, given it had been submitted in PDF format, and 
it was circulated with the agenda of the General Purposes Committee of 28 April 2009. The 
report was in the public domain. 

 
40. The disciplinary situation pertaining to the Clerk made it difficult for her to defend herself at 

the Council meetings. 
 
41. Although not proven and expressly denied by the Appellant, an objective observer might 

consider that her motives in writing the report might have had some link to the ongoing 
disciplinary process involving the Clerk. 

 
42. Although the focus is on the concluding paragraph, the tone of the report in terms of 

disrepute is extremely negative. It is hard not to read the concluding paragraph as anything 
other than a personal attack on the Parish Council’s Clerk. This would clearly affect the 
Clerk’s confidence and therefore her ability to continue. 

 
43. The Appellant’s conduct towards the Parish Council’s Clerk appears to have created some 

instability at the Parish Council with particular reference to the number of resignations of 
councillors and the “real” reasons causing their resignations. This also results in a lessening 
of public confidence in the Parish Council. 

 
44. It is accepted that Article 10 is engaged. If the Tribunal do find breaches of the Code on the 

facts, it is appropriate by reference to Article 10(2). 
 
45. In the local government context, as stated in the Investigation Report, there is an 

expectation that Members should be able to express in robust terms concerns they may have 
about any aspect of the running of the Council, which can include disagreement with other 
members or officers and this can include criticism. The Code, however, by introducing the 
concept of “treating others with respect” engages the balance required by Article 10(2), as 
does “bringing office into disrepute”. 

 
46. It is implicit in the Investigation Report that the threshold for failure to treat someone with 

respect and/or “bringing office into disrepute” has to be set at a level that allows for 
councillors to be able to discuss the efficient running of a council, which includes appropriate 
criticism where performance has been unsatisfactory.  This, however, has to be balanced 
with the rights of the Clerk and her right to have her reputation protected. 

 
47. As accepted in the report, the Appellant was seeking to raise concerns about what had 

happened at the car boot sale but did so in a way that was unacceptably harsh in that it was 
demeaning of the Clerk. It does, as stated previously, come over as a personal attack. 

 
48. It is submitted that it is important to remember that what was being complained about could 

be seen in reality as something relatively minor which was then blown out of all proportion. 
The Appellant makes reference to what might have happened if the car boot sale had not 
taken place. It is perhaps worth mentioning that in any event car boot sales are subject to 
the vagaries of the weather and it is difficult to accept that if a car boot sale cannot take 
place the Parish Council would in fact be brought into disrepute.  Reference is made in the 
report to how an objective outsider might view the circumstances in the knowledge of the 
Appellant’s action that resulted in disciplinary action being taken against the Clerk. The 
Investigation Report observed that when the Parish Council had considered the Appellant’s 
complaints about the car boot sale, not all of them in any event appeared to have been 
upheld. 

 

36



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 19 
 

49. The Appellant’s comments alleging “incompetence” are not, it is submitted, comments that 
could be construed as political on matters such as policy issues that therefore attract a 
higher level of protection. These comments were a personal attack and should be construed 
as a personal criticism of a Parish Council Clerk. It is understood that the situation might be 
different, in terms of critical comments of a chief executive or a highly paid corporate 
director employed to manage a large department and deliver services. It is submitted that it 
was inappropriate to make such a personal criticism in an open report circulated to Parish 
Councillors. The Clerk was placed in a difficult position and effectively had no right of reply. 
It has previously been stated that if the Appellant had any concerns about the Clerk’s 
performance, these could have been made in a more objective, appropriate and moderate 
way. 

 
50. It is therefore submitted that the decision of Blaby District Council’s Standards Committee to 

find the Appellant in breach of the Blaby Parish Council’s Code of Conduct arising from her 
written comments about the Clerk is a proportionate restriction on the Appellant’s right to 
freedom of expression. 

 
51. The Appellant was an experienced councillor and not a novice. It was therefore unfortunate 

that someone so experienced with so much to give wrote such strident criticism of the Parish 
Clerk in a report that was widely circulated to other councillors and which was capable of 
being read by members of the public.  

The Tribunal’s findings in relation to breach  
Failure to treat with respect and disrepute 
52. In the Tribunal’s view, failure to treat others with respect will occur when unfair, 

unreasonable or demeaning behaviour is directed by one person against another. The 
circumstances in which the behaviour occurred is relevant in assessing whether the 
behaviour is disrespectful. The circumstances include the place where the behaviour 
occurred, who observed the behaviour, the character and relationship of the people 
involved, and the behaviour of anyone who prompted the alleged disrespect. 

53. It is understood, and the Tribunal accepts that the term “disrepute” means a “lack of good 
reputation or respectability”. A councillor will have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct 
if their conduct could “reasonably be regarded” by an objective observer as bringing the 
member’s office or their authority into disrepute. Anything which diminishes the member’s 
office or their authority, or which harms or could harm the reputation of an authority, will 
bring that office or authority into disrepute.  

54. In considering whether the Appellant has breached the Code of Conduct, in particular 
paragraphs 3(1) and 5, the Tribunal has had regard to Article 10 of the European Convention 
on Human Rights which provides: 

“(1) Everyone has the right to freedom of expression. The right shall include 
freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart information and ideas without 
interference by public authority and regardless of frontiers… 
(2) The exercise of these freedoms, since it carries with it duties and 
responsibilities, may be subject to such formalities, conditions, restrictions or 
penalties as are prescribed by law and are necessary in a democratic society, in the 
interest of …the protection of the reputation or rights of others,….” 

55. Section 1 of the Human Rights Act 1998 identifies the rights under the European Convention 
of Human Rights which have effect for the purpose of that Act. They include Articles 6 and 
10 of the ECHR. Section 3(1) of the 1998 Act provides that so far as it is possible to do so… 

37



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 20 
 

subordinate legislation must be read and given effect in a way which is compatible with the 
convention rights.  

56. In the Tribunal’s view freedom of expression must be recognised as one of the fundamental 
rights in a democratic society which may only be interfered with where there are convincing 
and compelling reasons within Article 10(2) justifying that interference and any such 
interference must be reasonable, necessary and proprtionate. 

57. In Sanders v Steven Kingston [2005]EWHC 1145 (Admin) Mr. Justice Wilkie considered the 
relationship between Article 10 and paragraphs 2(b) and 4 of the then Code of Conduct. 
These provisions equate to paragraph 3(1) and 5 of the Parish Council’s Code of Conduct. Mr 
Justice Wilkie considering whether, on the facts of that case, a finding of breach and/or the 
imposition of a sanction would breach Article 10. He held that Article 10 was engaged, that 
the finding of a breach of itself and the imposition of a sanction was prima facie a breach of 
Article 10 but that the restriction of the right to freedom of expression was, on the facts, one 
which was justified by reason of the requirements of Article 10(2). He stated: 

“ …The purpose of the [Local Government Act 2000] was to encourage and impose 
certain minimum standards of behaviour in respect of local government…. I have 
concluded that the words and writing of the appellant amounted to no more than 
expressions of personal anger and personal abuse and did not constitute political 
expression which attracts the higher level of protection. In those circumstances, in 
my judgement the finding by the case tribunal that the appellant had breached the 
code of conduct and its notification of that finding to his local authority constituted 
an interference with freedom of expression  but one which was lawful pursuant to 
Article 10(2)…” 

58. In the case of Livingstone v Adjudication Panel for England [2006] EWHC 2533 (Admin)  Mr 
Justice Collins stated: 

“The burden is on [the Adjudication Panel for England] to justify interference with 
freedom of speech. However offensive and undeserving of protect the appellant’s 
outburst may have appeared to some, it is important that any individual knows that 
he can say what he likes, provided it is not unlawful, unless there are clear and 
satisfactory reasons within the terms of Article 10(2) to render him liable to 
sanction. “ 

59. The Tribunal is of the view that Article 10 is engaged here and therefore the issues to be 
determined are whether a finding of a breach of the Code on the facts as found, would be 
justified under Article 10(2). 

60. This required a factual investigation of the nature of the words used by the Appellant in 
order to determine whether they constituted legitimate expression relating to matters within 
the legitimate concern of the Appellant (political or quasi political comment which benefit 
from a high level of protection,) or whether they constituted expressions of personal criticism 
or abuse which would not benefit from such a level of protection. 

61. The Tribunal considered whether the restraints imposed by the Code, in order to protect the 
reputation and rights of others represented no greater an impairment to the Appellant’s 
rights to freedom of expression than is necessary to accomplish the legislative objective of 
the Code which is to maintain and uphold standards of conduct in public life.  

62. In looking at the nature of the words, the Tribunal recognises that the threshold for 
breaches of this nature has to be set at a level that allows for the passion and fervour of 
political debate relating to the efficient running of a council and which allows for appropriate 
and robust criticism of the performance of a council function. This is consistent with the 

38



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 21 
 

objective of maintaining proper standards in public life. However, this was to be balanced 
with the rights of others, including the right to protection of reputation.  

63. The Appellant’s use of some of the words contained in her report of the 13 April 2009 about 
the Parish Clerk, such as “incompetent”, “abysmal” and “totally inadequate” could not be 
construed as political or quasi political comments attracting a high level of protection. These 
comments were in the nature of personal abuse and personal criticism of an officer.  

64. It was inappropriate to make these personal criticisms in a report which was circulated 
widely to all members of the Future Events Working Party and the General Purposes 
Committee, both of which were open to the public and where the document was put in the 
public domain. The Appellant’s report could have been written in a more temperate, 
moderate manner, without making such highly critical comments about the Parish Clerk and 
her office so publicly. Indeed in the Appellant’s submission to the Tribunal she has made it 
clear that it was her intention to circulate her criticisms about the Parish Clerk widely which, 
any reasonable person would have known would have caused the Parish Clerk 
embarrassment and humiliation.  

65. Whilst the Tribunal recognised that the Parish Clerk, as a senior officer should be prepared 
to accept more robust criticism than more junior officers, in this case the words used were 
so personal and highly critical that they should not have been made in a public arena where 
the Parish Clerk had no right of reply, no opportunity to contradict what was said about her 
and where she was largely defenceless against these criticisms. The words used and the 
manner in which they were made were unreasonable, unfair and demeaning.  

66. The Appellant should have known from her previous complaint against the Parish Clerk of 
the correct procedure for dealing with her concerns about the organisation of the car boot 
sale. This should have been taken up separately and it was wholly inappropriate to raise 
them in the manner she did. The Respondent therefore failed to treat Ms Hansford with 
respect and has breached paragraph 3(1) of the Code.  

67. The Tribunal also finds that the Appellant has breached paragraph 5 of the Code of Conduct. 
Making such strident and intemperate public criticisms about the Parish Clerk and by 
implication her office, in a report, rather than using internal disciplinary procedures to make 
her complaints would reasonably be regarded by an objective observer as diminishing the 
Appellant’s reputation and the reputation of her office. Alternatives were open to the 
Appellant of which she was aware, but chose not to use.   The Tribunal therefore finds that 
the Appellant has brought her office into disrepute.  

Sanction  
Submission on behalf of the Standards Committee  
68. On behalf of the Standards Committee, it is now accepted that in reaching their decision the 

Committee misunderstood regulation 19(5). Accordingly, the Standards Committee accepts 
that it had no power to impose this additional “suspended” suspension.  If the Tribunal 
uphold one or more breaches of the Code of Conduct, it is submitted that given the 
Appellant still does not appear to accept that the wording she used in the report was 
inappropriate; the sanction of suspension should apply. 

Submission on behalf of the Appellant 
69. The Appellant was of the view that a censure was more appropriate than a suspension and 

that if the Tribunal thought it appropriate she would undertake further training in the Code.  
Decision on Sanction  

39



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 22 
 

70. The Tribunal has taken account of the representations of the parties, and the guidance 
issued by Standards for England, entitled “Standards Committee Determinations”.  

71. The Tribunal has found that the disrespect shown to the Parish Clerk was serious, sufficiently 
so to also amount to a breach of paragraph 5 of the Code of Conduct.  

72. The Tribunal has accepted that the Appellant is a hard working councillor who is committed 
to serving the Parish Council and the people of Blaby. However, she is not an inexperienced 
new councillor and is familiar with the Code of Conduct and the internal disciplinary 
procedures of the Council which she ignored in order to make her views about the Parish 
Clerk widely known.   

73. During the course of the hearing and in her submission to the Tribunal it was made clear 
that the Appellant continues to believe that she had done nothing wrong and that she is 
justified in taking the action she did. The Tribunal is therefore led to conclude that there is a 
serious risk that in the absence of a clear indication that this behaviour is wholly 
unacceptable, the Appellant may breach the Code of Conduct again.  

74. The Tribunal has therefore concluded that a fair, reasonable and proportionate sanction here 
is that the Appellant should be suspended for a period of four months or until such time as 
she has submitted a written apology to the Parish Clerk in a form specified by the Standards 
Committee. 

75. Unfortunately the Standards Committee Notice of Decision, which gave rise to this appeal, 
was confusing and inadequate. It did not explain its findings of fact, save to conclude 
erroneously, that it was not disputed that the Appellant’s written report to the General 
Purposes Committee contained inappropriate wording. It did not adequately give its reasons 
for finding there had been a failure to comply with the Code or whether all or part of 
paragraph 5 was breached. Perhaps more importantly, some of the sanctions imposed by 
the Standards Committee were confusing and were ultra vires. 

76. The Tribunal has partly upheld the findings of the Standards Committee and varied the 
sanctions imposed. The Standards Committee is required to impose the penalty specified in 
paragraph 74. 

77. The written reasons for the Tribunal’s decision will be published on the Tribunals website at 
www.adjudicationpanel.tribunals.gov.uk. 

78. Any request for the decision to be reviewed or for permission to appeal needs usually to be 
made to the First-tier Tribunal within 28 days of receipt of the Tribunal’s reasoned decision. 
Such applications need to be in writing. 

 
 
 
Sally Lister 
Judge  
3 June 2010 
 

40



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 23 
 

 

 
 
IN THE FIRST-TIER TRIBUNAL            CASE NO: LGS/2010/0521  
GENERAL REGULATORY CHAMBER 
(Local Government Standards in England) 
  
 
ON APPEAL FROM: 
Standards Committee of: Brentwood Borough Council 
Decision dated: 2 August 2010 
 
APPELLANT:  Councillor Barry Aspinell of Brentwood Borough Council 
RESPONDENT:    Brentwood Borough Council Standards Committee 
  

Determined on the papers  on 5 November 2010 
 
DATE OF DECISION:  5 November 2010 
 

BEFORE 
 

Judge: Patrick Mulvenna  
Member: David Billing 

Member: Alison Lowton 
 
 

Subject matter: Appeal by a member of a local authority     
   against a Standards Committee decision 
 
Cases:   R -v- Sussex Justices, ex parte McCarthy [1924] 1KB 256 

Richardson -v- North Yorkshire County Council [2003] EWHC 764 (Admin) 
Ken Livingstone v The Adjudication Panel for England [2006] EWHC 2533 
(Admin) 
Sanders -v- Kingston [2005] EWHC 2132 (Admin) 

 
 

41



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 24 
 

 

DECISION OF THE FIRST-TIER TRIBUNAL 
 

The appeal has been upheld and the decision of the Standards Committee has been rejected 
 

REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

1 The Appellant has been found by the Respondent to have breached paragraph 5 of the Code 
of Conduct and has been suspended for seven weeks. The Appellant has appealed to the 
Tribunal, although it appears that his suspension might actually have been served.   
 

2 Principal Judge Laverick, on considering the application to appeal, granted permission on the 
bases that  

 
− there might be concern in relation to the Appellant’s suggestion of political bias in the 

composition of the Hearing and Consideration Sub-Committee (‘the Sub-Committee’); 
and  

 
− on his own motion, that there was a need to take account of a councillor’s right to 

express his opinions as enshrined in Article 10 of the 1950 Convention for the Protection 
of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (‘the Convention’) which appeared not to 
have been considered.  

 
The parties have responded to Principal Judge Laverick’s subsequent Directions on those 
bases and have raised no further issues. The Tribunal proceeded accordingly and also 
addressed issues which became apparent during their consideration of the web cast recording 
of the Sub-Committee’s proceedings (‘the Web Cast’).  

 
3 The Tribunal has considered written evidence and submissions from both the Appellant and 

the Respondent. 
 
4 Some of the facts which gave rise to the finding are not in dispute. They may be summarised 

as follows; 
 
4.1 In Spring 2009, the Appellant produced a leaflet (‘the Leaflet’) prior to the Essex County 

Council elections which were to be held in June 2009. The Leaflet was one of three 
distributed by hand during April/May 2009 to households in Pilgrims Hatch, Brentwood 
North and Shenfield ‘to inform the residents of current issues at both Brentwood Borough 
and Essex County Councils.’ 

 
4.2 The front page of the Leaflet contained the following passage, 

 
‘The Council Offices are looking more and more like the Marie Celeste – empty 
Planning Department, empty Highways Department, empty Finance Department, 
empty Chief Executives office – where will it end! Those rooms were full and 
bustling with activity on our residents behalf when the Lib Dems ran the Council, 
and we still successfully balanced our annual budget.’ 

 
4.3 On the reverse page of the Leaflet, it said, 

 
‘FIVE QUESTIONS TO ASK YOUR TORY CANDIDATE (IF YOU SEE THEM) 

42



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 25 
 

…5. Why are the Tories dismembering Brentwood Borough Council piece by piece, 
i.e. no Chief Executive, no Planning Department, no Finance Department and no 
Highways Department?’ 

 
4.4 The Appellant disputes the extent, but not the nature, of what subsequently happened. 

The Investigating Officer was told, and accepted, that complaints were received from 
local residents which expressed concern that the leaflet gave the impression that 
Brentwood Borough Council was not effectively discharging its functions. The Appellant 
believes that there was only one complainant. The Investigating Officer says in her report 
that there were three complaints. They are not before the Tribunal but it is safe to 
conclude that, measured by the number of complaints, the leaflet did not give rise to 
widespread concern. 

 
4.5 The Investigating Officer formed a view that the leaflet ‘could reasonably be regarded as 

reducing public confidence in Brentwood Council being able to fulfil its functions and 
duties and therefore brought the authority into disrepute.’ Subsequently, the Sub-
Committee considered the Report and found that the Appellant had breached paragraph 5 
of the Code of Conduct, which provides: 

 
‘You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as 
bringing your office or authority into disrepute.’  

and imposed the sanction referred to in paragraph 1 above. 
5 The Tribunal has considered the appeal on the bases of the political composition of the Sub-

Committee and Article 10 of the Convention and also in relation to issues arising from the 
Web Cast. 
 

6 The starting point in any proceedings which have a judicial or quasi-judicial element is fairness 
which is a fundamental feature of English law. The guiding principle was expressed by Lord 
Hewart CJ in R -v- Sussex Justices, ex parte McCarthy [1924] 1KB 256, in the following terms,  

 
‘…it is not merely of some importance but is of fundamental importance that justice 
should not only be done, but should manifestly and undoubtedly be seen to be 
done.’ 

7 In addition, regard must be had to Article 6 of the Convention as given effect in English law 
by the Human Rights Act 1998 which gives a right to a fair trial. 
  

8 The Appellant claims that some members of the Sub-Committee were potentially biased 
against him. There were four members in number;  

 
– Mr C Van-Holby, an independent chairman,  
– Mr P Baggott, an independent parish council member,  
– Councillor Mrs J McGinley, a Conservative Party member, and  
– Councillor R Straw, a Liberal Democrat Party member.  

 
The Appellant contends that, because of past conflicts between them, Councillor Mrs 
McGinley could not be seen as an objective and fair member of the Sub-Committee and 
that both Mr Van-Holby and Mr Baggott, although independent, were known to be 
supporters of the Conservative Party and, therefore, possibly biased against him. 

 
9 It is evident that the alleged bias was considered to some degree by the Sub-Committee, but 

it appears that no reasons were given for dismissing the Appellant’s allegations. In fact, from 
the Web Cast, it appears that the decision was taken by the Chairman without consultation 

43



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 26 
 

with his colleague members, save for hearing from Councillor Mrs McGinley that she 
considered that she was not biased. The Tribunal considers that a Standards Committee has a 
duty to consider any allegation of bias and should hear those allegations. The duty is a 
continuing one and is relevant in relation to any bias shown or perceived at a hearing. It is 
good practice for a Standards Committee to ensure that its proceedings are free from actual 
bias or perceived bias. In this respect, a Committee should take a proactive role rather than 
relying on individuals to declare interests or to express subjective views as to their 
impartiality. The Tribunal does not find that Councillor Mrs McGinley was biased (there is 
insufficient evidence to draw a conclusion either way) but observes that insufficient 
consideration was given to the issue by the Sub-Committee and that this was compounded by 
the absence of reasons for their decision. The Tribunal would add that the inclusion in the 
Sub-Committee of members of a different party political persuasion does not in itself give rise 
to bias. The Monitoring Officer gave appropriate advice on this aspect at the Sub-Committee 
hearing. 

 
10 The Chairman of the Sub-Committee was alleged to have treated the Appellant and his 

witnesses unfairly and to have curtailed their evidence. It is the Chairman’s duty to exercise 
control and ensure that the proceedings are run smoothly and efficiently. It requires a fine 
balance and support from competent advisers. It appears that such support was present at 
the hearing. 

 
11 The Tribunal notes that the Sub-Committee was properly advised at the outset of its role and 

on the standard of proof (incorrectly referred to in the minutes as the burden of proof) but 
not on the burden of proof. The Tribunal also notes that the decision of the Sub-Committee 
appears to have been unanimous.  

 
12 Having considered all the evidence, the Tribunal does not find that there was actual bias 

against the appellant, but does express concern that the Sub-Committee appears not to have 
addressed the Appellant’s concerns by allowing him to express them fully and responding to 
them with adequate and cogent reasons. 

 
13 The Tribunal does, however, have concerns as to the proceedings. The Sub-Committee: 
 

13.1 appears not to have considered whether or not the Appellant was acting in his 
capacity as a councillor;  

 
13.2 gave inadequate reasons for  

 
- finding that the Appellant had breached the Code of Conduct and  
- deciding upon the sanction to be imposed; and  

 
13.3 appears not to have considered Article 10 of the Convention. 

 
14 The Appellant produced the Leaflet to further his candidacy for election to Essex County 

Council. The Investigating Officer considered the question of the capacity in which the 
Appellant was acting. She considered the guidance from Standards for England which 
expressed the view that  a member when canvassing for re-election was likely to be acting in 
a private capacity as a political candidate because it is not the function of a councillor to get 
re-elected. The Investigating Officer distinguished the Appellant’s position, and appears to 
have concluded that he was acting in his capacity as a councillor, because he was seeking 
election to the county council whilst remaining a borough councillor. It is not, however, within 
the role of a councillor from one authority to campaign for election to another. Moreover, the 
Investigating Officer’s reasoning is not sustainable. It appears to suggest that a councillor 
could criticise his own council when seeking re-election to that council, but could not if 
seeking election or re-election to another council. There must be a proper assessment of the 

44



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 27 
 

position with a reasoned conclusion. The Sub-Committee did not address the position at all, 
but simply seems to have accepted the Investigating Officer’s view without further enquiry. 

 
15 The Sub-Committee’s findings were announced by the Monitoring Officer. In announcing the 

finding that there had been a breach of the Code of Conduct, he said that the Sub-Committee 
had found that the Leaflet was inaccurate and that ‘there was no evidence either way’ as to 
whether or not the inaccuracy arose from a clerical error, as suggested by and on behalf of 
the Appellant. The Appellant had stated that the words ‘of its own’ included in the other 
leaflets which had been provided to the Tribunal, had accidentally been omitted in the leaflet 
after the list of departments. The Sub-Committee appears on that basis to have found against 
the Appellant. It ignores the burden of proof which lies with those who allege the breach of 
the Code of Conduct. No reasons have been given to support the Sub-Committee’s findings, 
either as to the accuracy of the Leaflet or as to their apparent conclusion that it was not 
inadvertent.  

 
16 It is observed in passing that no party other than the Appellant was represented at the 

hearing before the Sub-Committee. The Investigating Officer was ill and could not be present 
– but, in any event, it was not her complaint. It is unsatisfactory that nobody was present to 
prosecute the allegation and to be put to proof and to have witnesses cross-examined by or 
on behalf of the Appellant. It gives the impression that the Investigating Officer’s report was 
simply adopted by the Sub-Committee without due enquiry. 

 
17 In relation to the sanction, the Monitoring Officer advised the Sub-Committee of the relevant 

guidance prior to their retiring to reach a decision. On reporting their decision, he made 
reference to only two issues which had been taken into account: the Appellant’s length of 
service as a councillor and the fact that the Council was entering into a period in which there 
would be little transaction of business. There is no reason given as to why the Sub-Committee 
decided that a suspension was the appropriate sanction.  

 
18 In reaching their decision, the Sub-Committee does not appear to have had regard to Article 

10 of the Convention. 
 
19 In the absence of consideration by the Sub-Committee of the capacity in which the Appellant 

was acting in producing the Leaflet and of Article 10 of the Convention and in the absence of 
reasoned decisions by the Sub-Committee as to their finding that the Code of Conduct had 
been breached, the Tribunal has determined to consider those matters by the exercise of its 
own judgement. 

20 In relation to capacity, the Leaflet was produced by the Appellant to further his candidacy for 
election to Essex County Council. The Tribunal notes the guidance issued by Standards for 
England, but would observe that there are inherent dangers in expressing general views. Each 
case will turn on its own facts and must be considered on its merits. The Investigating Officer 
properly expressed the process of assessment as being objective. Regrettably, she then 
adopted a subjective approach: ‘As an objective observer, I find…’ The proper approach is to 
consider what view would be taken by a reasonable person, properly informed and taking 
account of all material considerations whilst ignoring immaterial considerations.  

21 There is little to assist the Tribunal in setting the Leaflet in context. The Investigating Officer’s 
report refers to documentation taken into account, but that was not before the Tribunal, save 
for the Leaflet: it could not be provided by the Respondent because it had not been 
considered by the Sub-Committee. In the absence of any evidence, the Tribunal has 
addressed the issues using their own experience and expertise. The elements of the Leaflet 
which gave rise to the allegations relate to the basis upon which Brentwood Borough Council 
delivers its services. It is probable that the administrative processes leading to the adoption of 
the present model included considerable research and negotiation, both with those with whom 

45



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 28 
 

partnerships were to be entered and with representatives of existing staff. That would have 
led to reports to the relevant committees and debate amongst councillors. It is likely that, if 
not considered to be controversial, such measures would excite much interest, not least 
amongst those who might perceive their jobs and careers to be at risk. A properly informed, 
objective observer would be aware of this background.  It is evident that there is a party 
political dimension to the issue. The new regime has been devised and implemented by the 
Conservative Party. It has been opposed by the Liberal Democrats. A properly informed, 
objective observer would also be aware of this factor. 

22 An objective observer would place the Leaflet within the context of these factors and would 
form a view, given the party political dimension, that the primary purpose of the Leaflet was 
to promote the Appellant at the expense of his political opponents. It was not unreasonable 
for the Appellant to raise the issue in the Leaflet as Essex County Council had a role to play in 
the Brentwood administration (a shared chief executive and a highways agreement are both 
referred to by the Investigating Officer). In these circumstances, the Tribunal finds that an 
objective observer, taking into account material factors and ignoring immaterial factors, would 
view the Appellant as acting in his capacity as a candidate for election to Essex County Council 
rather than as a councillor of Brentwood Borough Council. 

23 The Tribunal emphasises that not all material published in an election leaflet would necessarily 
lead to the same conclusion. Each case turns on its own facts and there might be factors 
which could lead to a conclusion that a member was acting in that capacity and, if 
appropriate, to a sustainable finding that there had been a breach of a Code of Conduct. 

24 Article 10 of the Convention provides: 
 

 ‘(1) Everyone has the right to freedom of expression.  This right shall 
include freedom to hold opinions and receive and impart information and 
ideas without interference by public authority and regardless of frontiers…  
(2) The exercise of these freedoms, since it carries with it duties and 
responsibilities, may be subject to such formalities, conditions, restrictions or 
penalties as are prescribed by law and are necessary in a democratic 
society, in the interest of … the protection of the reputation or rights of 
others…’ 

25 It is not an absolute right. The Article permits an exception in accordance with the law and in 
so far as is necessary in a democratic society for the protection of the rights of others. As 
submitted by the Respondent, it was held in Richardson -v- North Yorkshire County Council 
[2003] EWHC 764 (Admin) that the Code of Conduct provides a lawful check on Article 10. It 
does not, however, oust the right entirely. The rights of the Appellant have to be weighed 
against the rights of the public as a whole to enjoy transparent and open government at both 
a local and national level.  
 

26 Collins J said in Ken Livingstone v The Adjudication Panel for England [2006] EWHC 2533 
(Admin), in relation to Article 10,  
 

‘The burden is on the [the party interfering with the right] to justify the interference with 
freedom of speech.  However offensive and undeserving of protection [a person’s] outburst 
may have appeared to some, it is important that any individual knows that he can say what 
he likes, provided it is not unlawful, unless there are clear and satisfactory reasons within 
the terms of Article 10(2) to render him liable to sanctions.’ 

 
27 There has been no attempt to justify an interference with the Appellant’s right to say what he 

did in the Leaflet. It appears that the issue is a matter of political party interest and debate. It 

46



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 29 
 

is appropriate for such issues to be canvassed in the electoral process. There is no evidence 
that the Appellant’s right to raise the issue is outweighed by any public interest. It is open to 
those holding opposing views to express them in the same way. The Tribunal finds that there 
has been a breach of the Appellant’s Article 10 rights. 
 

28 It follows from the Tribunal’s findings that the Appellant was not acting in his capacity as a 
councillor and that his Article 10 rights have been breached, that he did not breach the Code 
of Conduct. The Tribunal has, nonetheless, considered the position in relation to the alleged 
inaccuracy on its merits. 

 
29 The finding against the Appellant, unreasoned as it might be, appears to be on the basis that 

the Leaflet was inaccurate. That finding was predicated on a belief that a reasonable person 
would form a view that Brentwood Borough Council was not properly exercising its statutory 
functions. The objective test to be applied is dealt with fully in paragraphs 19 to 21 above 
and, for the reasons given in those paragraphs, which include putting the information 
contained in the Leaflet into the context of other known information. The Tribunal finds that 
an objective observer, taking into account material factors and ignoring immaterial factors, 
would not in the slightest be misled by the words used by the Appellant. It would reasonably 
be inferred that the Appellant was referring not to an absence of any staff or departments at 
all, but to directly employed staff and directly administered departments. Indeed, as is 
explained in the section of the Leaflet following that quoted in paragraph 6 above, ‘We no 
longer have a local Planning function as such – we now have to rely on planning officers from 
Chelmsford Borough Council.’ An objective observer would not, in these circumstances, form a 
view that the Council had been brought into disrepute. The Tribunal finds, for these reasons 
that the Appellant has not breached of the Code of Conduct. 

30 Having made these findings, it would be idle to speculate on the sanction to be imposed if a 
breach of the Code of Conduct had been found on the basis of sustainable reasons. Suffice it 
to say that the total absence of reasons given by the Sub-Committee, particularly in the light 
of the advice on sanctions given by the Monitoring Officer, would have exposed the decided 
sanction to the closest of scrutinies. In particular, the Tribunal has in mind the Guidance on 
Decisions issued in March 2010 (‘the Guidance’) also to the decision of Sullivan J in Sanders -
v- Kingston [2005] EWHC 2132 (Admin). The Guidance, at paragraphs 13 and 14 provides:  

‘In deciding what action to take, the Tribunal should bear in mind an aim of upholding and 
improving the standard of conduct expected of members of the various bodies to which the 
Codes of Conduct apply, as part of the process of fostering public confidence in local 
democracy. Thus, the action taken by the Tribunal should be designed both to discourage 
or prevent the particular Respondent from any future non-compliance and also to 
discourage similar action by others.  
Tribunals should take account of the actual consequences which have followed as a result 
of the member’s actions while at the same time bearing in mind what the possible 
consequences may have been even if they did not come about.’ 

31 The Guidance also provides, at paragraph 27, that a decision not to impose disqualification, 
suspension or partial suspension might be appropriate in circumstances which might include: 

‘An inadvertent failure to abide by the Code of Conduct. 
An acceptance that despite the lack of suspension or partial suspension, there is not likely 
to be any further failure to comply on the part of the Respondent. 
The absence of any harm having been caused or the potential for such harm as a result of 
the failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.’   

47



 

Gov 002-002/396653 Page 30 
 

32 At least some of these factors were present in this case which should have informed the Sub-
Committee in its decision making process. 

33 The Tribunal has rejected the findings of the Sub-Committee. 
34 The written reasons for the Tribunal’s decision will be published on the Tribunals website at 

www.adjudicationpanel.tribunals.gov.uk. 
35 Any request for permission to appeal needs usually to be made to the First-tier Tribunal within 

28 days of receipt of the Tribunal’s reasoned decision. Such applications need to be in writing. 
 
Patrick Mulvenna 
Judge  
5 November 2010 
 
 
 

48


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	8 Establishment of Sub-Committees for 2011/12
	9 Social Media Protocol
	10 Standards Decisions

